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COMPLAINT  MERCHANT & GOULD P.C.
701 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 4100
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
TELEPHONE: (206) 342-6200

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

AT TACOMA 

ADJUGGLER, INC., a Virginia corporation, 

Plaintiff, 

 v. 

ADJOG.COM, a Domain Name, ABC 
COMPANY d/b/a ADJOG.COM NETWORK, 
a Fictitious Defendant, and JOHN DOE, a 
Fictitious Defendant.  

Defendants.

NO. _____________________

COMPLAINT 

JURY DEMANDED 

Plaintiff Adjuggler, Inc., by and through its undersigned attorneys, MERCHANT & 

GOULD, P.C., for its complaint in this action alleges: 

I. THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff, Adjuggler, Inc. (“Adjuggler” or “Plaintiff”) is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, having its principal 

place of business located at 5440 Cherokee Avenue, Alexandria, Virginia 22312. 

2. On information and belief, ADJOG.COM (“Domain Name”) is a domain 

registered with Dotster, Inc., which is located in this judicial district. 

3. On information and belief, defendant, ABC Company d/b/a Adjog.Com 
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COMPLAINT  MERCHANT & GOULD P.C.
701 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 4100
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
TELEPHONE: (206) 342-6200

Network (“Defendant” or “Adjog”) is an unknown fictitious defendant that operates a website 

at the URL <www.adjog.com>, has some unknown relationship with the registrant of that 

domain name and has a purported place of business at 11710 Reisterstown Road, 

Reisterstown, Maryland  21136-3363.  On information and belief, this business address is 

intentionally false.  Currently, it is unknown whether ABC Company d/b/a Adjog.com 

Network is a fictitious name for an individual or business or is the actual name of some type 

of business entity.

4. On information and belief, defendant JOHN DOE, a fictitious defendant, is the 

registrant of the domain name ADJOG.COM and his identity currently is unknown to 

Plaintiff.  Notwithstanding the exercise of due diligence, Plaintiff has not been able to identify 

the domain name registrant or any authorized licensee of the domain name registrant. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This action arises under the Trademark Act of 1946, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq.,

and the common law of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

6. Jurisdiction of this Court is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338(a) and (b), 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1121 and 1125(d), and 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

7. This court has in rem jurisdiction over the Domain Name pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. 1125(d)(2)(A) by virtue of Plaintiff’s inability to obtain personal jurisdiction over the 

registrant of the Domain Name and/or Plaintiff’s inability, despite due diligence, to find a 

person who would have been a defendant in a civil action under the Anticybersquatting 

Consumer Protection Act (“ACPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d).  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(d)(2)(A)(ii)(II), Plaintiff sent to the registrant of the Domain Name, at the postal and 
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email address provided by the registrant to the registrar, notice of the alleged violation and 

intent to proceed under the ACPA.  Despite this notice, the registrant has not responded. 

8. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d)(2)(C) because 

Dotster, Inc., the registrar for the Domain Name, is located in this judicial district. 

III. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Trade Name and Trademark Infringement – 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)

9. Plaintiff, Adjuggler, provides goods and services relating to the placement or 

“serving” of online advertisements that appear when users are surfing the Internet.  

Specifically, Adjuggler provides online ad serving, ad serving management, ad serving and 

management software and related solutions and has been providing these goods and services 

(“Adjuggler Goods and Services”) in interstate commerce (“commerce”) in the United States 

and overseas since at least as early as 1996. 

10. Adjuggler has been providing the Adjuggler Goods and Services in commerce 

under the name and mark ADJUGGLER continuously since at least as early as 1996.

Adjuggler also maintains an Internet website at the URL <www.adjuggler.com> on which it 

promotes the Adjuggler Goods and Services to companies in the United States and overseas. 

11. Adjuggler owns all common law rights in and to the name and mark 

ADJUGGLER for the Adjuggler Goods and Services.  Adjuggler also owns U.S. Registration 

No. 2,529,300, issued January 15, 2002, for the mark ADJUGGLER for “computer software 

for use in planning, delivering, measuring, analyzing and reporting on-line advertising.”  A 

true copy of U.S. Reg. No. 2,529,300 is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  U.S. Reg. No. 

2,529,300 is valid, existing and incontestable and constitutes conclusive evidence of the 
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validity of the registered mark, the registration of the mark, Adjuggler’s ownership of the 

mark, and Adjuggler’s exclusive right to use the registered mark in commerce on or in 

connection with the goods identified in the registration.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1115 (b). 

12. Adjuggler’s ADJUGGLER name and marks (the “ADJUGGLER MARKS”) 

are inherently distinctive and have also acquired distinctiveness through their continuous, 

exclusive use in commerce for well over the last decade.  Plaintiff has extensively promoted 

its goods and services under the ADJUGGLER Marks in commerce, including over the 

Internet, since at least as early as 1996, such that the marks have become well known in the 

minds of the relevant consuming public and have come to symbolize extensive goodwill, 

identifying Adjuggler as the source of the Adjuggler Goods and Services provided under the 

ADJUGGLER Marks.  Plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER mark was registered without proof of 

secondary meaning being required, has been used continuously and extensively in commerce 

and is strong. 

13. On information and belief, commencing at a time currently unknown to 

Adjuggler, but long after Adjuggler commenced use of its ADJUGGLER Marks for the 

Adjuggler Goods and Services, Defendant Adjog Network and/or the DOE Defendant 

registered the domain name ADJOG.COM and began use of ADJOG.COM and ADJOG on a 

website at the URL <www.adjog.com> (hereinafter collectively “ADJOG Designations”) as 

designations for various services including ad serving and ad serving management and related 

solutions on the Internet. 

14. The Whois record for the ADJOG.COM domain name indicates that the 

domain name was registered on or about September 11, 2007.  A true copy of the Whois 
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record for the ADJOG.COM domain name is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.  The Whois record 

identifies the domain name registrant as follows: 

Rosa Arzumanyan 
P.O. Box 2321 
Gaithersburg, MD  20879 

The administrative and technical contact is the same and includes an email address 

(rosaarzumanyan@usa.net) and phone number (202-422-4788).  On information and belief, 

the name and contact information of the registrant is materially false and misleading, and the 

registrant intentionally failed to maintain accurate contact information for the domain name.  

On information and belief, defendants intentionally provided false contact information when 

registering the domain name. 

15. On information and belief, beginning sometime after the domain name was 

registered, defendants began operating a website at the URL <www.adjog.com> at which they 

offered goods and services under the ADJOG Designations that are identical to, the same as, 

similar to or closely related to the Adjuggler Goods and Services offered and sold by 

Adjuggler in commerce under the ADJUGGLER Marks. 

16. On information and belief, defendants adopted the confusingly similar ADJOG 

Designations, for the same, similar and closely related services, with full knowledge of 

Plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER Marks and with the willful, deliberate and malicious intent to create 

confusion among relevant consumers and to trade on the name, reputation and goodwill 

associated with plaintiff and its ADJUGGLER Marks.  A true copy of the ADJOG.COM 

website as it existed on October 7, 2008 is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

17. Defendants’ willful and intentional use in commerce of the confusingly similar 
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SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
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ADJOG Designations is likely to cause confusion, to cause mistake, or to deceive as to the 

affiliation, connection, or association of Defendants with plaintiff Adjuggler and its 

ADJUGGLER Marks, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of defendants’ services or 

commercial activities by Adjuggler. 

18. Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein has caused and will continue to cause 

irreparable harm to Adjuggler and its business, reputation, and goodwill.  Adjuggler 

promotes, distributes and sells a broad range of ADJUGGLER branded ad serving software, 

ad serving management and various ad serving related services.  Defendants have used the 

ADJOG.COM Designations to advertise, promote and sell their related and/or competing 

services and are using the confusingly similar name, mark and domain name in commerce for 

their commercial gain trading upon the goodwill associated with the ADJUGGLER name and 

mark to generate revenues for defendants.  Defendants have acquired money and/or property, 

have unjustly enriched themselves, and have otherwise damaged plaintiff and caused 

irreparable injury to plaintiff’s goodwill, reputation and business.    Adjuggler has no 

adequate remedy at law for changes in consumers’ perceptions of the ADJUGGLER Marks 

by reason of defendants’ use of the confusingly similar ADJOG Designations as a purported 

designation for ad serving software, ad serving management and related ad serving services 

offered via the Internet and for the other wrongs alleged in this complaint. 

19. Plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER mark is distinctive and well known, and was 

distinctive and well known at the time defendants registered the ADJOG.COM domain name 

and commenced use of the ADJOG Designations. 

20. Defendants’ actions as described above, and specifically and without 



3520680_1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

7

COMPLAINT  MERCHANT & GOULD P.C.
701 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 4100
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
TELEPHONE: (206) 342-6200

limitation, the bad faith registration, use and/or trafficking of the domain name <adjog.com> 

was done willfully, with bad faith intent to profit from the ADJUGGLER  Marks, and done 

without the prior knowledge, permission or consent of Plaintiff. 

21. The ADJOG.COM Domain Name, which is confusingly similar to Plaintiff’s 

ADJUGGLER Marks, was registered and is being used, and/or trafficked in with a bad faith 

intent to profit from the ADJUGGLER Marks and/or to harm the substantial goodwill 

associated with the ADJUGGLER Marks, either for defendants’ own commercial gain or with 

the intent to tarnish and disparage the ADJUGGLER Marks by creating a likelihood of 

confusion as to the source, sponsorship or affiliation, or endorsement of the website 

<www.adjog.com> associated with the Domain Name.  The Domain Name and designation 

ADJOG.COM and the ADJOG Designations are confusingly similar to Plaintiff’s 

ADJUGGLER Marks in terms of sound, appearance, meaning and overall commercial 

impression. 

22. At the time the Domain Name was registered and at all times relevant to this 

action, Plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER Marks were and are distinctive and well known. 

23. The ADJOG.COM Domain Name is confusingly similar to plaintiff’s 

distinctive ADJUGGLER Marks. 

24. On information and belief, defendants have no trademark or other intellectual 

property rights in the Domain Name, which was not used or registered until many years after 

Plaintiff commenced use of its ADJUGGLER Marks and to date has not been registered. 

25. At the time the Domain Name was registered and at all times relevant to this 

action, the registrant had no reasonable grounds to believe that the use of the Domain Name 
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was a fair use or otherwise lawful. 

26. On information and belief, the Domain Name is not the legal name of 

defendants nor is it a name by which any defendant is commonly known. 

27. Plaintiff has priority of use of the mark ADJUGGLER. 

28. Defendants registered and are using the Domain Name intentionally to divert 

consumers from Adjuggler’s online location to a site accessible under the Domain Name and 

are harming the goodwill represented by plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER Marks. 

29. Both defendant and plaintiff Adjuggler simultaneously use the Internet as a 

marketing channel in promoting their respective websites and services. 

30. Consumers are not likely to exercise particular care in purchasing the goods or 

services offered by defendants through the website at the URL <www.adjog.com>.  Some of 

the goods and services offered through that site are low cost. 

31. Defendants intentionally, willfully and with a bad faith intent to profit from 

Adjuggler’s name and mark, registered and are using the domain name ADJOG.COM.  On 

information and belief, defendants registered and commenced use of the Domain Name and 

the ADJOG Designations with actual knowledge that they were confusingly similar to the 

ADJUGGLER Marks and with full knowledge of Plaintiff’s marks. 

32. The intentional wrongful acts alleged herein, committed by defendants in bad 

faith, have caused Plaintiff to lose control over the reputation and goodwill associated with 

Plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER Marks and Plaintiff’s business. 



3520680_1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

9

COMPLAINT  MERCHANT & GOULD P.C.
701 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 4100
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98104
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33. Defendants’ use in commerce of the ADJOG Designations and website as 

alleged herein constitutes trade name and trademark infringement in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 

1114(1).

34. Defendants’ use in commerce of the ADJOG Designations and website as 

alleged herein constitutes a false designation of origin, falsely suggests a connection between 

Plaintiff and defendants, and constitutes unfair competition in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a) and the common law. 

35. The registration, use and/or trafficking in the ADJOG.COM domain name and 

website were undertaken in bad faith with an intent to profit from plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER 

marks, and constitute “cybersquatting” in violation of the Anticybersquatting Consumer 

Protection Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d). 

36. Defendants’ bad faith acts have directly and proximately caused, and will 

continue to cause, damage and irreparable injury to Plaintiff and its business, reputation, and 

goodwill, and will continue to cause irreparable harm to Plaintiff, Plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER 

Marks, and to consumers, who have an interest in being free from confusion, mistake and 

deception, unless and until this Court preliminarily and permanently enjoins defendants’ 

illegal acts. 

37. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ willfully illegal, oppressive, 

fraudulent and malicious acts, Plaintiff has been damaged and is entitled to compensatory 

damages, disgorgement of defendants’ ill gotten gains and profits, in an amount to be proven 

at trial, and other just damages. 
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38. The acts of defendants alleged herein were the result of intentional oppression, 

fraud, evil motives, actual malice, and ill will by defendant, thereby entitling Plaintiff to 

exemplary and punitive damages.  The defendants’ acts were intended to cause injury to 

Plaintiff and were carried on by defendants with a willful and conscious disregard of 

Plaintiff’s rights.  The defendants’ acts subjected Plaintiff to cruel and undue hardship in 

conscious disregard of Plaintiff’s rights, property, goodwill, business and reputation.  The 

defendants’ acts also were the result of an intention on the part of defendants of depriving 

Plaintiff of property or legal rights and/or otherwise causing injury to Plaintiff and causing 

consumer deception, mistake or confusion. 

39. Plaintiff’s remedy at law is inadequate. 

40. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d)(1)(C), Plaintiff is entitled to an Order 

transferring the ADJOG.COM domain name from the registrant to Plaintiff. 

41. By reason of defendants’ willful use in interstate commerce of the infringing 

Domain Name and website, Plaintiff is entitled to recover statutory damages under 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1117, on election by Plaintiff, in an amount of up to $100,000. 

42. On information and belief, the wrongful acts alleged herein, in violating 

Plaintiff’s superior prior rights in Plaintiff’s ADJUGGLER Marks are willful, wanton and 

without claim of rights, rendering this an extraordinary case, and entitling Plaintiff to 

Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117. 

43. Defendants are liable to Plaintiff for registered trade name and trademark 

infringement in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1). 
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IV. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unfair Competition – 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)

44. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and hereby realleges as if fully set forth 

herein Paragraphs 1 through 43 of this Complaint. 

45. Defendants are liable to Adjuggler for violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

V. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unfair Competition – Common Law 

46. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and hereby realleges, as if fully set forth 

herein, Paragraphs 1 through 43 of this Complaint. 

47. Defendants are liable to Adjuggler for defendants’ unlawful, unfair and/or 

fraudulent business practices and acts of unfair competition under the common law. 

VI. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of ACPA – 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d)

48. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and hereby realleges, as if fully set forth 

herein, Paragraphs 1 through 43 of this Complaint. 

49. Defendants are liable to Adjuggler for defendants’ unlawful, willful and 

intentional cybersquatting in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d). 

VII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Adjuggler prays that the Court: 

A. declare, adjudge, and decree that defendants are liable to Plaintiff for registered 

trade name and trademark infringement in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1); 
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B. declare, adjudge and decree that defendants are liable to Plaintiff for use of 

false designations of origin in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a); 

C. declare, adjudge, and decree that defendants are liable to Plaintiff for unfair 

competition under the common law; 

D. declare, adjudge, and decree that defendants are liable to Plaintiff for 

cyberpiracy in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1125(d); 

E. grant preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining defendants from using 

the ADJOG Designations and engaging in any further acts constituting trademark 

infringement, unfair competition or cyberpiracy; 

F. order defendants and any persons acting in concert or participation with 

defendants to transfer the domain name ADJOG.COM to Plaintiff; 

G. order that any registrations of the domain name ADJOG.COM to defendants, 

or any transferee thereof, be forfeited, canceled, or deleted by non-party Dotster Inc., the 

registry of the domain name; 

H. award Plaintiff compensatory damages as provided by law; 

I. order disgorgement of defendants’ ill gotten gains and profits and payment 

over to Plaintiff as provided by law; 

J. award Plaintiff statutory damages as provided by law; 

K. award Plaintiff punitive damages as provided by law; 

L. award Plaintiff treble damages as provided by law; 

M. award Plaintiff its costs, disbursements, and attorneys’ fees incurred in 

bringing this action; and
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